1970

# State of Utah v. John Charles Wilks : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant, John Charles Wilks, was charged in the Fourth District Court in and for Utah County, State of Utah, with the crime of assault with intent to commit murder with a revolver, allegedly committed on September 2, 1969, in Utah County, Utah, as follows, to-wit:

"Richard L. Maxfield, District Attorney for the Fourth Judicial District of the State of Utah, accuses John Charles Wilks of the crime of assault with intent to commit murder and charges that on or about the 2nd day of September, 1969, at Utah County, State of Utah, the said John Charles Wilks did assault Charles Warren with a revolver with intent to commit murder." (See information) To the charge contained in the information, the Defendant entered a plea of "Not Guilty", and the case was set to be tried before a jury on February 4 and 5, 1970. The trial was held in Salt Lake City, Utah, at the request of the Defendant in an attempt to obtain a more impartial jury, which said request was approved by the Court. At the conclusion of the trial the jury returned a verdict as to the Defendant of "Guilty of Assault With Intent to Commit Murder", (Tr. 141). On February 5, 1970, immediately after the conclusion of the trial and the rendering of the verdict to the jury, the Defendant waived any time for the pronouncing of the judgment (Tr. 142). Whereupon, the Judge sentenced the Defendant to confinement in the Utah State Prison for an indeterminate term of not less than 5 years nor more than life. (Tr. 143).

Upon the trial of the case the State called as witnesses Richard Floyd Duke, a Springville police officer (Tr. 7), Clair Rasmussen, highway patrolman (Tr. 27), Dr. Chester B. Powell (Tr. 33), Mr. Mack Holley, Utah County Sheriff Deputy (Tr. 102), Mr. Nelson S. Evans, highway patrolman (Tr. 128), and Mr. Roy Helm, Assistant Superintendent of Utah Highway Patrol (Tr. 131). The Defendant called as witnesses Rudolph Lopez Moreno by reading into the record the transcript of the hearing called for the purpose of taking said testimony (Tr. 57), and the Defendant, John Charles Wilks (Tr. 74).

From the evidence introduced it appears without substantial conflict that during the day of September 2, 1969, Defendant, John Charles Wilks, was driving a vehicle north on the freeway toward Springville, Utah County, Utah, with Rudolph Lopez Moreno as a passenger in the front right seat of the car at a time when there was a .22 caliber pistol and a knife on the front seat between the driver and the passenger. (Tr. 59) The gun had been in the possession of both the Defendant and the passenger Moreno. (Tr. 60) Defendant and his passenger discovered that they were being followed by a highway patrol car, and they turned off the freeway toward Springville, Utah, on the street known as 400 South Street, they being aware that the patrol car had followed them approximately three miles. (Tr. 69) When the Defendant discovered that the patrol car was following him off the freeway, he pulled the car over to the side of the road as he was proceeding east on 400 South in such a position as to have the two right wheels of the car Defendant was driving off the paved portion of the highway, with a patrol car being driven by Officer Charles Warren stopping behind the Defendant's car a distance of approximately 15 or 16 feet. Officer Duke, the Springville policeman, proceeded by radio call on 400 South Street toward the Defendant's car, crossed over and stopped in front of the Defendant's vehicle a distance of approximately 12 to 15 feet by adding the length of the front of the car driven by Officer Duke to the driver's seat, (Tr. 13) and at a time when the Defendant's car had completely stopped. (Tr.11) Officer Duke was carrying a .357 Colt Magnum Pistol. (Tr. 11). Officer Warren, from his car parked behind Defendant's car, got out of the patrol car a distance of approximately 2 to 3 feet from the left side of his car toward the paved portion of the street. Officer Warren cautiously approached Defendant's vehicle, raised his right hand to his hip and unsnapped



his gun and placed his right hand on the butt of his gun, motioning Defendant to come toward Officer Warren with Officer Warren's left hand at a time when Officer Duke thought Officer Warren was motioning for Officer Duke to proceed and come forward. (Tr. 12) The pistol in the car of the Defendant was a .22 caliber single shot pistol. (See Defendant's Exhibit IV).

At this point the testimony is in conflict. Officer Duke at the time of the trial testified that he stopped 8 to 10 feet in front of suspect's vehicle; (Tr. 10, line 24) that Defendant's car was stopped in such a position that the right wheels were just off the paved portion of the road; (Tr. 10, line 28) that Officer Warren was approximately 2 to 3 feet away from his left front door toward the center of the road when he motioned for the Defendant to come out of the car; (Tr. 11, line 19) that as Defendant leaned out of his car, two shots rang out, Officer Warren was falling with his gun still holstered; (Tr. 13, line 18) that Officer Duke was standing behind his left front door when he heard the shots ring out, unholstered his gun and fired one shot at the Defendant; (Tr. 14) that Defendant returned Officer Duke's fire and then Officer Duke in turn returned three more shots at the Defendant, after which time Defendant jumped from his car on the left side and ran away from Officer Duke and between the Defendant's car and Trooper Warren's vehicle and out into a field; (Tr. 14) Officer Duke, after Defendant had run into the field, saw Officer Warren wipe his forehead with his handkerchief. (Tr. 16) Officer Duke did not see the .22 caliber single shot pistol in Defendant's hand at any time. (Tr. 19) Officer Duke testified that the first two shots were one right on top of the other. (Tr. 19) Officer Duke testified that one of his shots ricocheted off the left front door of Defendant's car and one ricocheted off the hood of Defendant's



car into the windshield. (Tr. 20) Officer Duke stated that when he saw Officer Warren in the road, Officer Warren's head was 15 feet to 18 feet from the left front door of Defendant's car, and that Officer Warren was from 7 to 8 feet from Defendant when the first two shots were fired. (Tr. 26, 27) After the first shot was fired by Officer Duke, Warren had dropped out of Officer Duke's sight. (Tr. 23)

Officer Rasmussen testified that as he approached the scene from a distance of about two blocks, he saw Officer Warren standing at the left of his vehicle. (Tr. 28) Officer Rasmussen was driving at a high rate of speed at the time he first saw Officer Warren standing to the left of his car with Warren's hands on his hips and his right hand being near his weapon; that he saw Officer Warren go down at a time when he heard only one shot, and Officer Warren did not draw his revolver. (Tr. 29) Officer Rasmussen stopped his car behind Trooper Warren's and fired three times at the Defendant running into an open field. (Tr. 30)

Dr. Chester B. Powell testified upon examining Officer Warren in Salt Lake City that he found two circular wounds approximately  $\frac{3}{4}$  of an inch apart on the right forehead toward the temple, appeared to be bullet wounds and wounds of entry, and he found no wounds of exit. (Tr. 35) Dr. Powell performed surgery on the head of Officer Warren, and with the suction tube removed a blood hemorrhage plus a number of small bullet fragments. (Tr. 37) Dr. Powell further testified that the two holes in Officer Warren's head were approximately  $\frac{1}{4}$  of an inch in diameter, about  $\frac{3}{4}$  of an inch apart, and they looked to Dr. Powell like they might have been made by a .32 sized bullet. (Tr. 38) At Tr. 39, the District Attorney asked Dr. Powell as follows:

Line 8, Page 39: "Doctor, previous testimony has

indicated that Trooper Warren took his handkerchief from his pocket and wiped his forehead and put his handkerchief back into his pocket after this injury. Is that possible? Is that something normal with an injury of this type?"

Answer: "Yes. It would have been possible. But it would have had to occurred within 20 or 30 seconds from the injury. After that, I don't think he would have been conscious or able to have done any voluntary movement."

Line 17, Page 39: "Do you have an opinion as to whether his condition at that time would have allowed him to have fired his gun?"

Answer: "Not unless he had fired it before he had sustained the gunshot wound himself."

Dr. Powell testified that the bullet fragments removed from the head of Officer Warren were not large enough to identify the size of the bullet that had been fired, and that the little fragments were about 1/16 of an inch in diameter. (Tr. 41) The District Attorney asked Dr. Powell whether or not Officer Warren could now remember the events of the shooting. Dr. Powell testified that Officer Warren was "unable to recollect any events when I have asked him, and I would not expect his to have recollected the circumstances." (Tr. 43) After Dr. Powell had testified as to the nature and extend of the injuries of Officer Warren and over the strenuous objection of Defendant's counsel which was made off the transcript record and between the Court and all counsel but which is made a part of the record under Defendant's motion for new trial, Trooper Warren was permitted to be brought into the courtroom sitting in a wheelchair. (Tr. 44) Dr. Powell then proceeded to demonstrate on the head of Officer Warren sitting in the wheelchair the general area where th holes occurred, but were not visible to anyone in the court-

room and to which Officer Warren could not and did not make any response. (Tr. 44) Dr. Powell testified over the strenuous objection of Defendant's counsel of lack of foundation for the testimony, and no evidence of measurements of the calculation that the bullets retained in the head of Officer Warren could either be a .22 deformed or a .32, but that he did not think it would be larger than a .32. (Tr. 46) On cross-examination Dr. Powell testified that when bullets strike a skull very strange things happen, that they become distended, might explode, break in two, that it is possible for one bullet that is split in two to make the two holes in the head of Officer Warren, and that there was no way of determining whether there was more than one bullet track through the brain of Officer Warren. (Tr. 47) Dr. Powell further testified on cross-examination that the X-rays taken were not specifically to determine the size of the object that still remained in the head of Officer Warren. (Tr. 48)

After the testimony of Dr. Powell the State rested. At that time defense counsel made a motion out of the presence of the jury for the Court to direct a verdict in favor of the Defendant. This was at a time when the Defendant's gun had not been offered into evidence and that the only evidence was that the Defendant was seen running from the scene with the gun in his hand. (Tr. 51, 52) The Court denied the motion. Defendant's counsel requested after the denial of the motion that the State produce Officer Warren's gun for the Defendant's case and that Defendant would put on testimony to the effect that Officer Warren's gun had, in fact, been fired more than once. The Court did not rule upon Defendant counsel's request for the production of Warren's gun. (Tr. 53, 54).

At the commencement of the Defendant's case, Moreno,

through his deposition, testified that after Wilks had stopped the car, Moreno heard Warren request Wilks to get out of the car and motioned Wilks with his hand to come out; that Officer Warren unleashed his holster with Warren's right hand. (Tr. 61). Moreno testified that Moreno then gave Wilks the .22 caliber pistol telling Wilks that the officer was probably after the gun, handed Wilks the gun, Wilks took it with his right hand, opened the car door, heard Wilks say "don't" or "don't shoot" or "don't, wait," and then heard shots fired. (Tr. 62). Moreno testified that he could not see who was shooting, but that it was not Wilks that fired the first shot because he could tell if the shot was coming from inside the car. (Tr. 663). Moreno testified that the gun was cocked when he handed it to Wilks, and that Moreno had shot the pistol along the highway from the car as they proceeded north and before the shooting of Officer Warren in question. (Tr. 64). Moreno testified that a bullet missed him from the back. (Tr. 66).

Defendant Wilks took the stand on his own behalf and testified that Officer Warren's car was 8 to 10 feet behind the rear of Defendant's car. (Tr. 79). That Springville officer's car was approximately 6 to 8 feet in front of the front of Defendant's car. (Tr. 81). That as Wilks started to stand up in getting out of the car, Warren went for his gun, pulled his gun, and shot at Wilks while Warren was in a crouch. (Tr. 81, 82, 83). Wilks testified that one shot was fired and he was struck by it in the hand. (Tr. 83). That Wilks' gun did not intentionally go off, and that after Warren had shot once, Wilks' gun discharged once. (Tr. 85). Wilks testified that the one shot from his gun that was fired was fired as he was falling back into the car, and that Wilks' gun discharged almost immediately or just a couple of seconds after Officer Warren had shot. (Tr. 88). Wilks identified State's



Exhibit IV as being the same type of gun that he had, a .22 caliber pistol, and demonstrated before the Court that to fire Exhibit IV you had to manually pull back the hammer with your thumb to cock the gun. (Tr. 88, 89). Wilks testified that there were three and no more than four unspent cartridges in the .22 caliber pistol at the time that he had it in his hand when he got out of the car. (Tr. 90). Wilks testified that Officer Warren was approximately 12 to 15 feet from Wilks when Warren fired at Wilks. (Tr. 93). Wilks testified that he took the gun out of the car with him to give it to Officer Warren, and that Wilks did not aim the gun at Officer Warren or anyone else. (Tr. 92).

After Defendant had rested, State called Officer Holley in rebuttal. Officer Holley identified a mark on the left front door of the Defendant's car as illustrated in Exhibit VI that a bullet had apparently glanced off the door into the air which had been fired from in front of Defendant's car. (Tr. 106). A photograph entered as State's Exhibit XIII was examined by Officer Holley and testified that there was one hole in the windshield of Defendant's car and testified that he examined and found three entrance holes into the windshield and two exit holes. (Tr. 109). Officer Holley testified that two shots entered the Defendant's car from the rear of the Defendant's car. (Tr. 111). Officer Holley testified from Exhibits IX and XI that he found two bullets that had been fired into the back of the Defendant's car. (Tr. 111). Officer Holley testified as to evidence of a split slug, and that a shot that entered the Defendant's car from the rear was fired in a line that Warren would have been in at the time. (Tr. 112). Holley testified that a bullet fired from behind was a .38 caliber bullet. (Tr. 115). Holley further testified that he found no powder residue or burns inside the Defendant's car evidencing any firing from inside the car. (Tr. 118).

At the conclusion of this witness, the Defendant, out of the presence of jury, once more made a motion for directed verdict, which the Court denied. (Tr. 137). After said motion and out of the presence of the jury, the Court and all counsel reviewed the prepared instructions of the Court and at that time Defendant objected to said instructions and the failure of the Court to give Defendant's requested instructions, including an instruction that there was not sufficient evidence to support the conviction of the offense charged, a necessary instruction on the intent necessary of the Defendant to be guilty of the offense, and the Defendant took due exception of the refusal to give said instructions.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING OFFICER WARREN TO APPEAR BEFORE THE COURT OVER STRENUOUS OBJECTION OF DEFENDANT WHEN NO USEFUL PURPOSE WOULD BE SERVED AND PURPOSE WAS TO AROUSE SYMPATHY AND INFLAME JURY AGAINST DEFENDANT.

### POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO DIRECT A VERDICT AT THE CONCLUSION OF THE STATE'S CASE; THERE WAS NOT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE DEFENDANT'S GUILT BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

### POINT III

THE COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING DR. POWELL TO TESTIFY FOR THE STATE AS TO THE CALIBER OF THE BULLET IN OFFICER WARREN'S HEAD.

#### POINT IV

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILURE TO GIVE THE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NUMBERS 2, 10, 11 AND 13.

#### POINT V

THE COURT ERRED IN GIVING INSTRUCTION NUMBERS 6, 7, AND 12.

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING OFFICER WARREN TO APPEAR BEFORE THE COURT OVER STRENUOUS OBJECTION OF DEFENDANT WHEN NO USEFUL PURPOSE WOULD BE SERVED AND PURPOSE WAS TO AROUSE SYMPATHY AND INFLAME JURY AGAINST DEFENDANT.

In the testimony of Dr. Powell, witness for this State, the Dr. testified as to the size of the holes in the head of Officer Warren, the surgical procedures that he performed and on page 42, line 18 of the transcript, Dr. Powell testified "his wound has healed well." Dr. Powell further testified as follows:

Tr. 43, line 23: "Yes. he is unable to recollect any of the events when I ask him, and I would not expect him to have recollected the circumstances."

Subsequent to this testimony, the State requested permission from the Court to bring in Officer Warren. After Officer Warren was before the Court, the District Attorney interrogated Dr. Powell as follows:

Tr. 44, line 9:



Question: "Doctor, I have in the courtroom Trooper Warren. Could you explain to the jury and show them on his skull where the points of entry were?"

Answer: "There is a large scar here, a curved scar, which is the surgical incision. This irregularity is where the bone was removed. And the two wounds are here on the right side of the forehead at this point (indicating). They have become quite pale, and you can barely see them. You can see them clearly enough here and here (indicating)."

The above testimony was not essential in proving any controverted issue before the Court. The defense had not controverted the fact that there were two holes in the head of Officer Warren, the officer could not testify by reason of the traumatic spell of amnesia as the doctor had testified, and the bringing in of Officer Warren served no useful purpose to assist the Court or the jury in determining facts already established, except for the purpose of inflaming the sympathy of the jury against the Defendant to see the pathetic officer in his wheelchair. Everyone present in the courtroom, including counsel, the Court, and the jury, could feel the emotions of everyone in the courtroom at the time and during the time Officer Warren was present in the courtroom.

In Volume 2 of Wharton's Criminal Evidence, Page 631, states as follows:

"It is permissible to exhibit to the jury scars and wounds on a person's body *when a demonstration of this nature tends to solve any controverted issue in the case. When the character and extent of physical injury is in question*, it is proper to produce the party and to illustrate the manner of receiving and the nature and extent of the wounds . . . ."

"Scars may always be exhibited, it seems, as evi-

dence bearing upon an issue as to the seriousness of the wounds by which the scars were produced, or the manner in which such wounds were inflicted. However,, such an exhibition should not be permitted if it is not relevant to an issue in the case, or if the scars are not shown to have resulted from the encounter which is the subject of the criminal charge, or if the scars are not entirely the result of the wounds inflicted by the accused, but are in part the result of a surgical operation."

In the case of *State of Montana vs. Cockrell*, 309 P.2d 316, the Montana Supreme Court ruled as follows:

"Wounds received or scars left in commission of a crime are admissible *if they tend to solve some controverted issue.*"

In the case of *State vs. Bischert*, Montana, 308 P.2d 969, cited in *State vs. Campbell*, Montana, 405 P.2d 978, 22 ALR 3rd 824, the Montana Court said as follows:

"When the purpose of an exhibit is to inflame the minds of the jury or excite the feelings rather than to enlighten the jury as to any fact, it should be excluded."

Such is the case before this Court, and this was, in fact, the effect of the bringing of Officer Warren into the courtroom.

In *Graves vs. State*, Nevada, 1968, 439 P.2d 476, the Court said as follows:

"Whether evidence of nature and extent of injury to victim of attempted murder is of such an inflammatory nature as to outweigh its probative value and preclude its admission is within sound discretion of the trial court."

In the case of *State vs. Jensen*, Oregon, 296 P.2d 618. the Oregon Court held as follows:

“In a capital case, evidence which might shock jurors’ sensibilities is not for that reason inadmissible, but to bring into case wholly irrelevant evidence of gruesome character merely for purpose of exciting feelings of hate on part of jury against defendant would be indefensible and intolerable.”

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