1970

# State of Utah v. John Charles Wilks : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

**NATURE OF THE CASE**

John Charles Wilks appeals from a jury conviction of assault with intent to commit murder in the Fourth Judicial District Court, in and for Utah County, the Honorable Maurice Harding, presiding.

**DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT**

The jury found defendant guilty of assault with intent to commit murder. He was sentenced to the Utah State Prison for an indeterminate term of not less than five years nor more than life.

**RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL**

The respondent submits that the judgment of the Fourth Judicial District Court should be affirmed.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The recital of the facts in Appellant's brief is substantially correct. Respondent's corrections and additions are made hereinafter.

## ARGUMENT

## POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN PERMITTING DR. POWELL TO POINT OUT THE BULLET SCARS ON OFFICER WARREN'S HEAD.

After Trooper Charles Warren was brought into the courtroom sitting in a wheelchair, the district attorney interrogated Dr. Powell (T. 44).

“QUESTION: Doctor, I have in the courtroom Trooper Warren. Could you explain to the jury and show them on his skull where the points of entry were?”

“ANSWER: There is a large scar here, a curved scar, which is the surgical incision. This irregularity is where the bone was removed. And the two wounds are here in the right side of the forehead at this point here (indicating). They have become quite pale, and you can barely see them. You can see them clearly enough here and here (indicating).”

The respondent submits that Utah's well developed case law on admissibility of “gruesome” photographic evidence is dispositive of appellant's contention that Officer Warren's appearance prejudiced the jury.

The proper test of admissibility of such evidence and review thereof is stated in *State v. Renzo*, 21 Utah 2d 205, 215, 443 P. 2d 392, 399 (1968).

“The fact that a picture may be gruesome is no reason for excluding it from evidence if it is otherwise competent and relevant. It is a matter of discretion with the trial judge to determine whether the probative value of the picture outweighs the possible adverse effect which might be produced upon being shown to a jury. 23 C. J. S. Criminal Law § 852(1)c. This discretion on the part of a trial judge to admit or reject evidence should not be interfered with by an appellate court unless manifest error is shown.”

Accord: *People v. Schiers*, 160 Cal. App. 2d 364, 324 P. 2d 981 (1968); *People v. Bennett*, 208 Cal. App. 2d 317, 25 Cal. Rptr. 257 (1962); *People v. Cheary*, 48 Cal. 2d 301, 309 P. 2d 431 (1957); *Martinez v. People*, 124 Colo. 170, 235 P. 2d 810 (1951).

The state had the burden of proving appellant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of assault with intent to commit murder. Appellant's entry of a not guilty plea puts in issue every material allegation of the information. Utah Code Ann. § 77-24-4 (1953). The Code defines the “malice” which must be shown by the state to prove intent to commit murder at 76-30-2, to-wit:

“Such malice may be express or implied. It is express when there is manifested a deliberate intention unlawfully to take the life of a fellow creature. It is implied when no considerable provocation appears, or when the circumstances attending

*the killing show an abandoned and malignant heart.*"  
(Emphasis added.)

The bullet holes in Officer Warren's skull were thus probative of the issues, even though defendant did not controvert the existence of the scars. The Utah Supreme Court passed on this issue in *State v. Russell*, 106 Utah 116, 133, 145 P. 2d 1003, 1010 (1944) :

"The pictures of the deceased, taken after her death and showing her wounds, were clearly admissible. Even though the defendant did admit the killing, he did not admit the intent to kill and the nature of the wounds may be material on that point. The pictures showed the nature of the wounds more clearly than the testimony of witnesses could."

Accord: *People v. Bennett*, 208 Cal. App. 2d 317, 25 Cal. Rptr. 257, (1962); *McKee v. State*, 31 So. 2d 656 (Ala. 1947); *State v. Woods*, 62 Utah 397, 220 P. 215 (1923).

The fact that the evidence may be cumulative does not prevent its admission.

"There was oral testimony to the effect that the defendant shot four bullets into the face and neck of the victim, missed with two shots, and then snapped the pistol at the victim's head two more times. The defendant, therefore, reasons that there was no need for pictures at all, as the crime was amply proved. The fallacy of this reasoning is his failure to see that the oral testimony may be discounted by the jury; and while the picture may not enable the jury to count the bullet holes in the victim's face, the various sources of blood indicate a number of bleeding sources, all of which is proper as showing the viciousness of the assault and the

depravity of the defendant in making it." *State v. Jackson*, 22 Utah 2d 408, 409, 454 P. 2d 290, 291 (1969).

In *State v. Renzo*, *supra*, this court pointed to the corroborative value of demonstrative evidence.

"The extent and nature of the wound and the atrocity of the crime also were material questions. Clearly the photographs, though cumulative, served to corroborate the doctor's testimony and were admissible for that purpose."

Accord: *State v. Martinez*, 92 Idaho 183, 439 P. 2d 691 (1968); *State v. Aubuchon*, 394 S. W. 2d 327 (Mo. 1965); *People v. Toth*, 182 Cal. App. 2d 819, 6 Cal. Rptr. 372 (1960).

The evidence of two identical holes  $\frac{3}{4}$  inch apart in Officer Warren's head is especially probative in light of appellant's contention that his gun discharged accidentally. (Appellant's brief at 25). Not only is the evidence pertinent to the issue of whether the shooting was accidental or intentional, it is also pertinent to the question of degree of the crime, i.e., whether there was specific intent to murder or only a general intent to do bodily harm. The jury was instructed on assault with intent to do bodily harm as a lesser included offense of assault with intent to commit murder. See: generally 23 C. J. S. Criminal Law § 852 (1)c, (1967); 29 Am. Jur. 2d Evidence §§ 785-89 (1966); 159 A. L. R. 1413 (1945); 73 A. L. R. 2d 769 (1960).

The state should be permitted to prove its case by the strongest evidence possible.

“[A] colorless admission by the opponent may sometimes have the effect of depriving a party of the legitimate moral force of his evidence; furthermore a judicial admission may be cleverly made with grudging limitations or evasions or insinuations (especially in criminal cases), so as to be technically but not practically a waiver of proof.”  
 9 Wigmore on Evidence § 2591 (3d Ed. 1948).

Accord: *State v. Upton*, 60 N. M. 205, 290 P. 2d 440 (1955); *Hawkins v. State*, 219 Ind. 116, 37 N. E. 2d 79 (1941); *State v. Nelson*, 162 Ore. 430, 92 P. 2d 182 (1939).

“[T]he prosecution, with its burden of establishing guilt beyond a reasonable doubt is not to be denied the right to prove every essential element of the crime by the most convincing evidence it is able to produce. No one would be heard to object to testimony which does no more than faithfully describe the wounds which were inflicted upon the victim of a homicide, no matter how horrifying the narration might be. But a photograph of the corpse may fortify the oral testimony. Should it be excluded because it is, perhaps, even more revolting? We think not, as long as the defendant stands upon his plea of not guilty.” *State v. Jensen*, 209 Ore. 239, 280, 296 P. 2d 618, 638 (1956).

Appellant's reliance on *State v. Poe*, 21 Utah 2d 113, 441 P. 2d 512 (1968) is misplaced. The Poe color slides held inadmissible by the Court depicted the “gory procedures of the pathologist,” not marks left on the decedent by the criminal. This court held properly admissible two photographs of the victim as he appeared at the culmination of the crime. In the instant case it was far better for appellant that Officer Warren was permitted to appear at

the time of trial with his external wounds almost healed (T. 44) than if the prosecution had introduced pictures taken at the scene of the shooting.

Further, the Kentucky Supreme Court in *Napier v. Commonwealth*, 426 S. W. 2d 121 (Ky. 1968) suggested that courts should be skeptical of claims that a jury can be changed from a body of rational men into a passionate mob by the introduction of demonstrative evidence. Where the issue was whether a post mortem photograph of the victim's face showing a bullet hole was admissible, the court reasoned as follows:

“The fact is that it was not so gruesome as to be likely to prejudice or inflame the men and women, inured as they are to the horrors of both war and television, who sit on a modern jury. The time has come when it should be presumed that a person capable of serving as a juror in a murder case can, without losing his head, bear the sight of a photograph showing the body of the decedent in the condition or place in which found.”

Finally, respondent submits that even if it were error to permit Officer Warren to appear, in light of the overwhelming evidence supporting conviction of assault with intent to commit murder and sentence for an indefinite term in prison of from five years to life, such error could not be considered prejudicial within the meaning of Utah Code Ann. § 77-42-1 (1953).

“After hearing an appeal the court must give judgment without regard to errors or defects which do not affect the substantial rights of the parties. If error has been committed, it shall not be pre-

sumed to have resulted in prejudice. The Court must be satisfied that it has that effect before it is warranted in reversing the judgment."

## POINT II.

### APPELLANT'S CONVICTION IS WELL SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TRIAL.

Ample evidence was adduced on each element of the crime charged to convince the jury of appellant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Officer Duke of the Springville Police was 15 feet away from the appellant at the time Officer Warren was shot. He testified that he drew and fired his gun at appellant *only after* he saw appellant turn toward Warren and fire two shots, hurling Officer Warren to the ground (T. 13). The appellant then turned and fired at Officer Duke, and these shots sounded the same to Duke as those which had felled Officer Warren (T. 22, 25). Officer Rasmussen of the Highway Patrol testified that after the shooting he saw appellant running into a nearby field with a revolver in his hand (T. 30). Only appellant's testimony controverts these facts. The jury could well discount appellant's "ricochet" theory (Appellant's brief at 16) on the basis of this evidence. The "accidental discharge" theory (Appellant's brief at 25) deserved little credence in light of the location of the bullet holes in Warren's head. Appellant's claim that it is physically impossible for his single-shot six-shooter to have fired shots one or two seconds apart (Appellant's brief at 16) is contradicted by common experience.

## POINT III.

THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN PERMITTING DR. POWELL TO TESTIFY AS TO THE CALIBER OF BULLETS IN OFFICER WARREN'S HEAD.

The district attorney laid the following foundation for his question of Dr. Powell regarding the bullet size (T. 38) :

“QUESTION: Doctor, were you able to tell the size of the holes that you mentioned of entry?

“ANSWER: Yes. The two holes were approximately a quarter of an inch in diameter. About three quarters of an inch apart. And they looked to me like they might have been made by a .32 — size bullet. And I put that down on my emergency room report, that they suggested a .32 caliber bullet. And then I put a question mark, because I wasn't entirely sure.

“QUESTION: Are you familiar with the different sizes of bullets, .32, .22, .38, .357 et cetera?

“ANSWER: Yes.

“QUESTION: Do you have an opinion as to whether or not this size of hole — strike that. Have you in your work, had occasion to examine other gunshot wounds?

“ANSWER: Many.

“QUESTION: And based on your training and experience, do you have an opinion as to whether or not this hole could have been caused by a shell larger than a .32?

“ANSWER: Yes.

“QUESTION: And what is your opinion?

“ANSWER: No, it could not have been. It could have been a .32 caliber bullet hole, but it was too small to be larger than a .32 caliber.

“QUESTION: Could it have been a .357 magnum?”

“ANSWER: No.

“QUESTION: Could it have been a .22?”

“ANSWER: Yes, it might.”

It is well settled in Utah that a trial judge has wide discretion in determining whether proper foundation has been laid for opinion evidence. In *Road Commission v. Silliman*, 22 Utah 2d 33, 34, 448 P. 2d 347, 348 (1968), this Court held as follows:

“The qualification of an expert witness is to be determined by the trial judge, and if he determines that a witness by reason of training and experience can assist the jury by giving an opinion on a matter properly before the court, we on appeal should not hold that testimony should be stricken unless such palpable ignorance of the subject matter is manifested by the witness as to indicate an abuse of discretion on the part of the trial judge in allowing the witness to express an opinion in the first place or in refusing to grant a motion to strike after it has been given.”

Accord: *Marsh v. Irvine*, 22 Utah 2d 154, 449 P. 2d 996 (1969); *Stagmeyer v. Leatham Bros., Inc.*, 20 Utah 2d 421, 439 P. 2d 279 (1969).

#### POINT IV.

#### THE COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE

## ERROR IN ITS INSTRUCTIONS TO THE JURY.

The Court refused to give defendant's requested instructions Nos. 2, 10, 11 and 13, giving instead instructions which adequately covered these fields.

Defendant's requested instruction No. 2 defines "unlawful and unlawfully", "deliberate", "premeditate", "intent", and "specific intent". The instructions given by the court substantially cover these matters. No. 6 sets forth the elements of the crime, No. 7 deals with "malice aforethought", No. 10 defines abandoned and malignant heart; No. 12 covers "specific intent".

Defendant's requested instruction No. 10 defining assault with intent to commit murder is as well covered in the court's instructions Nos. 6 and 7.

Instructions Nos. 11 and 13 requested by the defendant dealing with "accidental discharge" was substantially given in the court's instruction No. 16.

The matter of "specific intent" is thoroughly dealt with in the court's instructions Nos. 8 and 10.

Since the matters raised by appellant were substantially covered by the court's instructions, no reversible error appears. *People v. Anderson*, 64 Cal. 2d 633, 414 P. 2d 366 (1966); *Clews v. People*, 151 Colo. 219, 377 P. 2d 125 (1962); *Carlson v. State*, 445 P. 2d 157 (Nev. 1968).

Appellant's dispute with the court's instruction No. 6 defining assault with intent to commit murder is based

upon his incorrect quotation of that instruction. The full sentence reads as follows:

“(b) an assault with intent to commit murder is an unlawful attempt, coupled with a present ability, to murder a human being.”

The inclusion of the final phrase makes it clear that an attempt to murder must be made, and the court fully instructed the jury as to the intent necessary for a murder.

Further, the element of intent is specifically defined by the court in instruction No. 8. There can be little doubt that the jury was fully advised that intent to murder is a requisite element of the crime.

Appellant finds instruction No. 7 objectionable because it refers to “killing”. An instruction on assault with intent to commit murder must define “murder”. It is difficult to imagine how the court could define “murder” without reference to killing, since murder is a type of killing.

Appellant contends that giving instructions Nos. 12 and 17 overemphasized the significance of circumstantial evidence. No. 17 deals with the value of circumstantial evidence in general, while No. 12 is a more detailed explanation regarding the finding by the jury of intent to kill from the circumstances. Appellant seems to argue both ways: (1) that the jury was inadequately instructed on intent, and (2) that too much was said about intent and the circumstances under which it can be inferred by the jury.

Respondent submits that appellant’s critique of the

court's rulings on his requested instructions, as well as his dispute with the instructions finally given by the court, raises no legal issues of any significance.

### CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that Officer Warren's appearance in court cannot be held to be cause for reversal in light of Utah's well developed case law on the subject. His appearance was probative on the issues of intent and degree of the crime, and was far less inflammatory than pictures taken at the scene of the crime could have been. The jury's verdict, rendered on the basis of substantial evidence and correct instruction, should be affirmed.